
By letter dated March 24, 2009, the Office of Special Counsel (OSC) referred to the 
Secretary of the Air Force (SECAF) for investigation a whistle blower disclosure from Mrs. 
Stephanie Armel, a Sexual Assault Prevention and Response Assistant at Sheppard Air Force 
Base (AFB) Texas (OSC Referralletter). 1 According to OSC, Mrs. Armel has alleged that 
"employees at the Department of the Air Force [AF], ... , 82nd Training Wing [TRW], Sheppard 
AFB, Texas, have violated AF rules and procedures by allowing an employee [Colonel Marcia 
Rossi] to adopt multiple leadership roles," including Inspector General (IG), "thus failing to 
maintain the Independence and Integrity of the IG position." 

After review and based on the information disclosed by Mrs. Armel, OSC "concluded 
that there was a substantial likelihood that the information provided discloses a violation of a 
law, rule or regulation, including but not limited to, violations of the policies contained in Air 
Force Instruction (AFI) 90-301, Inspector General Complaints Resolution, May 15, 2008." OSC 
also determined based upon the information disclosed "that there is a substantial likelihood that 
the actions of the employees constituted gross mismanagement and an abuse of authority." See 
OSC Referral Letter. 

OSC SUMMARY OF 

According to the OSC Referral 
OSC: 

1 Mrs. 

this 
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acc<)rduur to the OSC Referral 

of investigation. 

INFORMATION 

Mrs. provided the following information to 
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requesting IG help will continue to do so, even when they feel that the commander may 
be the problem, See 90-301, Inspector General Complaints Resolution, "1.2.3, the 
IG System, May 15, 2008." 

(3) According to OSC, "[t]he independence of the IG must be firmly established and 
supported to overcome any perceived lack of autonomy that would discourage potential 
complainants and preclude disclosures of wrongdoing from being brought to the 
attention of the IG. See AFI 90-301, "1.27.3, Roles of the IG in Relation to the 
Commander. The Secretary has also declared that the 'focus of installation/wing 
must be the Air Force Complaints Resolution and FWA [fraud, waste and abuse] 
Programs ... The IG position will not be combined with another position in the 
organization ... Therefore, IGs and IG staff members must not be ... [ a]ssigned any 
duties (such as Director of Staff) that subsequently disqualify them from conducting an 
unbiased analysis of complaints ... ' AFI 90-301, "1.24 Assigning Additional Duties to 
Installation !Gs. This provision specifically prohibits the IG from being Director of 
Staff." Mrs. Armel alleged that, "Colonel Rossi has violated this rule because she is both 
IG and DS." 

CONDUCT OF THE INVESTIGATION 

Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 1213(c), an agency is afforded 60 days to complete the report 
required by Title 5, U.S.C. § 1213. The AF has been granted several extensions until January 22, 
2010 within which to submit the required report. 

As the OSC Referral Letter to SECAF highlighted potential wrongdoing by AF senior 
officials, the letter was forwarded to the Force Inspector General (SAF/IG) and then to the 
Senior Officials Directorate (SAF/IGS) of SAF/IG for action. On April24, 2009, the Inspector 
General (TIG) approved a recommendation that SAF/IGS conduct an investigation 
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and Brigadier General Otis Mannon - all of whom served during the time Colonel Rossi 
served as installation 

It should be noted that OSC had previously been in receipt of whistle blower disclosures 
filed by Mrs. Armel in 2008 alleging wrongdoing against Mrs. Armel's immediate supervisor, 
the installation Sexual Assault Response Coordinator (SARC). In her interactions with OSC, 
Mrs. Armel indicated that she felt she could not go to Colonel Rossi regarding her problems 
because some of her (initial) allegations dealt with Colonel Rossi in her capacity as the On 
January 4, 2010, the AF submitted a separate report (OSC File No. -08-1283) relating to Mrs. 
Armel's initial whistle blower disclosures. 

SUMMARY EVIDENCE 

Mrs. Armel filed a whistleblower disclosure with OSC alleging that Colonel Rossi, the 
installation IG at Sheppard AFB, violated AF rules, specifically AFI 90-301, ~~1.2.3, 1.24 and 
1.27.3, by serving in multiple leadership roles, thus failing to maintain the independence and 
integrity of the Inspector General position. 

The IO found that from February 2005, when Colonel Rossi was originally assigned to 
the 82 TRW, through March 2009, she spent about 40 months as the 82 TRW/IG. At all times, 
she was also the CCO, and from November 2006 onward, she was also the DS, triple-hatted for 
20 months. Her pertinent duty history is as follows: 

• Feb 05 Mar 05 Director of Competitive Sourcing only (CCO) 
• Mar 05 Jun 05 - CCO and Inspector General (I G), 3 months 
• Jun Jan 06- ceo only 
• Jan 06- Nov 06- CCO and 11 months 
• Nov 06 May 07- CCO, and Director of Staff (DS), 6 months 
• May 07-
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The IO provided the following chronology: 

Jul04 

Feb OS 

Feb OS 

Mar OS 

JuiOS 

Jan 06 

28 Jan 06 

Feb 06 

Aug06 

5 06 

Oct 06 

1-2 Nov 06 

General WC1 assumed command of the 82 TRW, Colonel JB was the IG 

Colonel Marcia Rossi arrived at Sheppard AFB and was appointed Director of Competitive 

Sourcing (A-76), filling a new manpower billet the 82 TRW had been given by AETC [Air, 
Education and Training Command]; the A-76 study had not started 

AFI 90-301 revised edition published and effective 

The Sheppard IG departed PCS [permanent change of station] and Colonel Rossi was appointed 
as IG by General WC1 

Colonel-select AC PCS'd to Sheppard AFB from Vandenberg AFB and was hired as the 

installation IG 

782 TRG/CC, Colonel DR deployed to the AOR; Colonel AC replaced her as 782 TRG/CC, Colonel 
Rossi was again appointed IG, the A-76 study still had not yet begun 

Colonel Rossi's first OPR as CCO. listed IG as Additional Duty. OPR ends with "Ready for 

permanent IG job!" 

82 TRW /IG won best IG in AETC for 200S 

General Devereaux assumed command of the 82 TRW 

General Devereaux received IG orientation briefing from Colonel Rossi, no mention that her 

dual-hatting may have violated AFI 90-301 

82 TRW and 80 FTW both successfully completed their Operational Readiness Inspections 

(ORI); no mention in 82 TRW's report about there being a with dual-hatting the 
installation neither ORI addresses the IG or its Resolution or FWA 

t-.cu:,-·hh.:Hi that Colonel 

interim 
nrr"1orooc:c that 

fulfill 

4 



6 Nov 06 General Devereaux created the wing's Director of Staff position; Colonel Rossi was assigned to 
the new DS position while keeping her other two positions 

Nov 06 General Devereaux notified by AETC/ Al that a Colonel-select L was seeking a humanitarian 
assignment to North Texas and could fill the 82 TRW/IG billet 

Dec 06 General Devereaux notified by AETC/ Al that the 82 TRW /IG position was being downgraded to 
a lieutenant colonel (0-5) billet which meant that Colonel-select L now could not be assigned to 
it. Downgrade effective December 20, 2006 

28 Jan 07 Colonel Rossi's OPR closed-out; duty title "Director, Competitive Sourcing (CCO)/IG/Director of 
Staff (DS)" 

Feb 07 82 TRW/IG won best IG in AETC award for 2006, the second straight year 

Mar 07 Efforts to fiiiiG position with base 0-5 underway again; list of candidates identified, presented 
to Colonel Rossi in late March 

May 07 Major WY, a lieutenant colonel-select civil engineer (CE), was appointed as the 82 TRW /IG 

Jul 07 82 TRW tapped for a short-notice 179-day deployment (CE officer) to the AOR; Lieutenant 
Colonel-select WY only qualified officer available, he departed for training; Colonel Rossi 
appointed interim IG 

Aug-Sep 07 Major WY returned from training, worked for a month as the IG, and then deployed to the 
AOR; Colonel Rossi was interim IG (awaiting WY's return from deployment) 

Sep 07 AETC/IGQ conducted a Staff Assistance Visit (SAV) with 82 TRW/IG; made note of the problem 
with multi-hatting the installation IG, recommended staffing waiver to SAF/IGQ to operate 
outside the regulation 

Oct 07 AETC/IG sent their SAV trip report to 82 TRW/CC; report highlighted the problem of multi­
hatting the installation IG 

Oct 07 Colonel Rossi, as DS, signed Mrs. Armel's career brief-for SARC duties 

Dec 07 Mrs. Armel raised FWA concerns about her supervisor, Ms. SARC, to the vice commander (CV) 

Dec 07 General Devereaux received an email from 
Times about Colonel Rossi's 
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15 May 08 AFI 90-301 revised edition published and effective; 82 TRW/IG staff member e-mailed General 
Devereaux the specific language that IG vvi!l not be combined with another position and 
prohibiting additional duties, specifically DS; General Devereaux directs efforts to identify IG fill 
from base 0-Ss 

Jun 08 80 FTW identified an officer to be "detailed" as the installation IG but to remain on the 80 

FTW's books; AETC/IG informed the 82 TRW/IG that this could not be done, since the IG has to 
work for the host wing commander; two other new officers identified as possible candidates 
for the IG position 

Jul08 General Mannon assumed command of the 82 TRW; he was briefed that there was a solution 
set in place: General Devereaux had requested the 80 FTW identify a fill, and in case the 80 

FTW could not, he had also identified two majors as potential candidates 

Oct 08 Lieutenant Colonel TR, 882 Training Group (TRG) was identified as the next IG; her availability 
date was spring 2009 

Jan 09 Colonel Rossi's 3rd OPR as CS/IG/DS closed 

Mar09 Lieutenant Colonel TR appointed as IG 

In accordance with 10 U.S.C. § 8014, SECAF has sole responsibility for the function of 
the AF and is required to establish a single office within the Office of the SECAF to conduct 
IG functions. 2 Section 8014 statutorily mandates that the TIG position be part of the Office of 
the SECAF. When directed by the SECAF or the Chief of Staff of the AF, the I G has the 
authority to inquire into and report on the discipline, efficiency, and economy of the AF and 
perform any other duties prescribed by the SECAF or the Chief of Staff. 

The IO examined the applicable AF rules regarding installation IGs. According to the 

agency General shall be considered to be 
..., ..... ,..r,_.,.._. agency; and the General who is the head of an office shall ... have the 
duties of an agency head or under such " The is 
derived from the Inspector General Act of 1978. The AF IG does not derive its from this statute and is not 
considered to be an "independent" IG office. 
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AFI 90-301, Inspector General Complaints Resolution, implements AFPD 90-3. It 
covers the responsibilities of the installation IG and the installation IG progrru.li. In past 
decade, three editions of this instruction were effect- the dates of these AFis were January 30, 
2001, February 8, 2005 (2005 edition), and May 15, 2008 (2008 edition). Only the last two 
published editions of this AFI are applicable to this case. For comparison purposes, the 
following table sets forth texts pertinent to this case from each of three editions of AFI 90-
301 (key portions highlighted in by the IO). 

In comparing the applicable language of the three editions, the IO noted the following: 

• All three editions stressed the need for an independent IG to work directly for the 
installation commander; 

• The 2001 and 2005 editions stipulated IG positions at "large" installations (5,000 or 
more) be Colonels; selection of an individual lower in grade required SAF II G 
approval; 

• 2008 edition stipulated IG positions at large installations be lieutenant colonels; 
this requirement was waivable by the Complaints Resolution Directorate of SAF/IG 
(SAF/IGQ); 

• The 2001 edition's language with regard to IGs was firmly stated and explained what 
additional duties were not acceptable; 

• The 2005 edition's language with regard to IGs and additional duties was "softened" 
somewhat and used words such as "normally not acceptable" and "should not be ... " 

• The 2008 edition's language used "are not acceptable" and "the position will not 
be combined with another," and specifically states DS as an example of prohibited 
additional duty (stronger verbiage that its 2005 predecessor); and 

• Of overall importance to all three editions is the concept of the independent IG 
able to conduct an unbiased analysis of any brought to attention. 

2005 Provision 

7 

2008 Provision 

National Defense 
Authorization Act. 



Establish­
ment of the 
Installation 
IG Program 

Installation IG must be 
independent. Air Force 

must be free from 
any form of 
retaliatilon. or reprisal for 
communicating with the 
Installation IG. 
1.14. Establishment of the 
Installation JG Program. 
1.14.1. Independent 
Installation IGs will be 
established at all active duty 
and AFRC installations; the 
88 ANG flying wings. IGs at 
installations with 5,000 or 
more assigned will be in the 
grade of Colonel; those 
installations with less than 
5,000 will be in the grade of 
Lieutenant Colonel. 

communicating with the 
Installation IG. 

1.16. Establishment of the 
Installation IG Program. 
1.16.1. Independent 
installation IGs will be 
established at all active duty 
and Air Force Reserve 
installations and all Air 
National Guard wings. IGs at 
installations with 5,000 or 
more military members and 
civilian employees assigned 
will be in the grade of colonE~I: 
those installations with less 
than 5,000 military and 
civilians assigned will be in the 
grade of lieutenant colonel. 
1.16.1.1. Selection or 
assignment of officer in lower 
grade (e.g., 0-4 for 0-5 IG 
position) requires coordination 
and approval by SAF/IG. 

1.21. Establishment of the 
Installation IG Program. 
1.21.1. Independent 
installation IGs will be 
established at all active duty 
bases and at Air Force 
Reserve and Air National 
Guard wings. IGs at Air 
Force installations with a 
base population (military, 
civilians, and dependents) 
of 5,000 or more will 
be in the rank of lieutenant 
colonel or colonel; those 
installations with a base 
population of less than 5,000 
people will be in the rank of 
major or lieutenant colonel. 
1 .21.1.1. Selection or 
assignment of an officer of a 
lower rank (e.g., major for 
lieutenant colonel IG 
position) requires 
coordination and <>nlnr..-"'"' 

by SAF/IGQ. 
1.21.1.2. Commanders may 
appoint a civilian of 

in lieu of a 

combined with another 
~~·'"+-·--intheon~anization. 

1.24.3. IGs must not be 
and IG staff members should not constrained by additional 
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Therefore, IGs and IG staff be: duties that detract from their 
members will not be: 1.21.2.1. Assigned any duties that primary responsibilities. 
1.18.2.1. Assigned duties that subsequently disqualify them Therefore, IGs and IG staff 
subsequently disqualify them from conducting an unbiased members must not be: 
from conducting an unbiased analysis of complaints against 1.24.3.1. Assigned any duties 
analysis of complaints against functions or activities of the wing (such as Director of Staff) 
functions or activities of the or installation to which they are that subsequently disqualify 
command (or installation) to assigned or organizations for them from conducting an 
which they are assigned or which they have IG functional unbiased analysis of 
organizations for which they responsibility. complaints against functions 
have IG functional 1.21.2.2. Appointed as an IO to or activities of the wing or 
responsibility. conduct a commander-directed installation to which they are 
1.18.2.2. Appointed as lOs to investigation. assigned or organizations for 
conduct commander-directed 1.21.2.3. Given responsibility for which they have IG 
investigations or inquiries. the installation commander's functional responsibility. 
1.18.2.3. Given responsibility "action line." 1.24.3.2. Appointed as an IO 
for the installation to conduct a commander-
commander's "action line." directed investigation. 
1.18.2.4. The primary focal 1.24.3.3. Given responsibility 
point for readiness or for the installation 
inspection programs. commander's "action line." 

Roles of the [not included by IO] 1.27. Roles ofthe IG in Relation 1.27. Roles ofthe IG in 

IG in to the Commander. Relation to the Commander. 

Relation to 1.27 .3. The independence of the 1.27.3. The independence of 

the IG must be firmly established the IG must be firmly 

Commander 
and supported to overcome any established and supported to 
perceived lack of autonomy that overcome any perceived lack 
would discourage potential of autonomy that would 
complainants and preclude discourage potential 
disclosures of wrongdoing from complainants and preclude 
being brought to the attention of disclosures of wrongdoing 
the IG. from being brought to the 

attention ofthe IG. IG 
offices should be located in 
areas that foster open and 
unfettered access to everyone 
and which not 
JYlUli..IIIIHJ 

..1. ·' 
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applies to all editions of the AFI. Both experts also pointed out that the AFis talked to 
"additional duties"3 in the traditional sense (i.e. CFC, Assistance Fund, etc). Both believed 
the duties being discussed in this case were not the traditional "additional duties" but were 
actually other full-time jobs. They both stated the intent of all three editions of the AFI in 
ensuring the independence of the IG would rule out other, full-time duties. 

The subject matter expert from AETC/IGQ stated she and those in her office felt there 
was a problem with multi-hatting an installation IG, especially after the AFI's language became 
stronger with the 2008 edition. With regard to the field's interpretation of the wording in the 
2005 edition, she testified that "I think the [wing] commanders at that time ... were reading what 
the older edition ... wording was, that it gave them you know, wiggle room ... And so they, as 
commanders, thought that it didn't specifically mandate them or, you know, preclude them from 
using their IG in a dual capacity." She also testified that the feedback she received in 2008 (with 
regard to the May 2008 AFI) from commanders was that they were trying to get a fulltime IG 
assigned at their installations. "[T]here were attempts, but that they themselves, the commanders 
were facing problems in trying to either find somebody qualified ... in other words there were 
just, in some instances, there just wasn't anybody to, you know, to pick from." 

The IO found that while it appears each published edition of AFI 90-301 intended to 
emphasize the need for an independent IG and for an installation IG to have no other duties that 
would diminish the IG's ability to effectively and independently carry out their role, the wording 
in the 2005 edition left the issue open to interpretation by its use of the terms "should" and 
''normally." 

Analysis 

According to the IO, the key criteria in case involves whether or not the duties assigned 
to Colonel Rossi diminished her ability to function independently as the installation IG. The 

~ isscl 

in 
addition to his 
the that even 

tend to be minor duties not directly related to the unit's """'"'''' ... "' mission whereas full-time duties are tied 
"'"""'"'"'"to the mission. 
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2005 edition of AFI 90-301 when she held both the 82 CCO and positions during the time 
period when WCl was 82 TRW/CC. 

Colonel Rossi was assigned to the 82 TRW on February 25, 2005 as the CCO. AETC 
had given the 82 TRW an additional colonel manpower authorization for the duration of the A-
76 study.4 As the 82 TRW/CCO, Colonel Rossi was responsible for overseeing Sheppard 

"A-76" study. When she arrived at Sheppard the A-76 study was still in a delayed 
status- work on the actual study had not begun and the effort was mainly in a "data gathering" 
phase waiting new guidance from the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and AETC 
Headquarters. The actual study would not start for another year and a half (October 2006) and 
Colonel Rossi felt under-utilized. During these 20 months, Sheppard AFB' s A-76 effort was 
limited to gathering mostly background statistical data on the base functions that would 
eventually be studied in much greater depth. 

When the installation IG, Colonel JB, departed Sheppard AFB on permanent change of 
station (PCS) orders in March 2005, Colonel Rossi discussed the now-vacant IG situation with 
her boss, General WC 1, indicating that she could take on the IG role for a short time until 
another permanent I G was assigned. Prior to her arrival at Sheppard Colonel Rossi had 
been assigned to the AF Personnel Center (AFPC) where she held positions as the DS and 
installation IG simultaneously. 

In February 2005, the revised AFI 90-301 became effective. It required that "IGs at 
installations with 5,000 or more military members and civilian employees assigned will be in the 
grade of colonel." Based upon its size, the Sheppard installation IG had to be a colonel. 
Because of its mission, Sheppard AFB had fewer officers than many air bases from which to 
select an IG. Sheppard AFB is Education and Training Command's (AETC) only base to 
conduct both technical training and flying training. The 82 TRW is the host wing and conducts 
technical training in a wide array of skills, concentrating the areas of maintenance and 

80th Training (80 FTW) is a tenant and conducts 

of the A-76 process at goes back to the late 990's when the 
were under pressure to outsource many base functions that 

A-76 
nou1se-nerrorrnect function 

"'"'"'"~--''...,of a function to be studied was base civil en~~meern1g 
'"'"r. ..... h\1 on this issue was to several bases and conduct an A-76 on many base functions. ~neppard 

AFB's study was to start around 1998 but was many years for a of reasons. Once 
••nr'"' .. """"" the study focused on three areas--civil engineering, technical 
affecting 426 jobs on base, including I 0 officer positions, 183 enlisted positions, and 233 civilians. 
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active duty members AF-wide but they comprise only 8% of the active duty force of the 82 
Additionally, the active duty force about 1 ~lo colonels and 3.1 o/o lieutena.."'lt colonels, 

while the 82 TRW has .3% colonels and .7o/o lieutenant colonels. Additionally, the raw number 
of colonels and lieutenant colonels in the wing remained relatively stable between 2005 and 2009 
while the overall size of the wing increased. 

The 80 FTW on the other hand is "officer-intensive" since its instructor personnel are 
pilots and hence officers. Because of its Euro-NA TO mission, many of the 80 FTW officers are 
foreign instructors and as such the European nations have a direct say in the utilization of all 80 
FTW manpower billets to include the US billets. General Devereaux confirmed this point his 
testimony, stating that since the Europeans share in the overall cost of the entire pilot training 
program, pilot instructor billets are often "protected" from deployments and other detailing. 

After Colonel JB departed as the IG, General WCI selected Colonel Rossi to replace him 
on an interim basis. testified as follows concerning his reasoning: 

W: ... he [JB] left and that's when I had a decision to make on how to backfill 
him. 

IO: Yes sir. Okay. So what were some of the parameters and what were you 
looking at that time. What kind of advice was given you or, you know ... 

W: Well the one thing that I, that I considered but, but dismissed almost right 
away was letting the one field grader who was, who was in there be in charge of 
that. .. And the reason that I, I dismissed that course of action was because, 
because of the nature of not only the 82nd Training Wing, but also being the 
host ... for both the 82nd and the 80th, I felt that was a little much a, for a 
[ m ]ajor to handle and it felt like we needed to have a little higher level... charge 

the 
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understanding that she would recuse herself from any issue that could be viewed as a conflict of 
interest. 

Colonel Rossi initially served as the IG for a four-month period until General 
WC 1 hired Lieutenant Colonel AC who came to Sheppard AFB from being the Deputy 
Group Commander at Vandenberg AFB California. At the time (July 2005) he was a 
colonel-select. Colonel Rossi reverted to her single role as the CCO. However, in 
January 2006, the 782 Training Group (TRG) Commander, Colonel DR, deployed to the 
area of responsibility (AOR)5 and General WC 1 now needed to fill one of his colonel 
training group command billets. General WC 1 deemed Colonel AC to be qualified to 
command the 782 TRG and gained approval from his numbered Air Force and major 
command to make this move. This left the IG position vacant again. 

General WC 1 then decided to rehire Colonel Rossi into the IG position. The A-
76 study had not yet begun. With regard to his reasoning, General WC1 testified: 

W: Once again, now I'm trying ... my, my preferred course of action would be to 
get another [ c ]olonel in ... that I could, that I could stick, stick in there. That 
wasn't going to happen any time soon according to the, the personnel folks ... So 
the choices are once again leave it, leave it kind of uncovered or we still haven't 
kicked off on the competitive sourcing full bore yet in terms of the, the actual 
study. I have somebody who, who'd held down the fort for a few months 
previous, so I went, okay I'll, I'll let her do that until we, we get a ... a full time 
replacement . . . And so until that full blown study kicked off I, I felt like using 
Col[ onel] Rossi in that, in the capacity was probably the prudent thing to do. 

IO: ... You mentioned the personnel folks said there wasn't anything, you know, 
Was, or was this coming from your MSS Support 

5 The AOR is the geographical area associated with a combatant command within which a ''"'""""~n, ... h,~ combatant 
commander has authority. 
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resources on hand. got to, got to play the hand that I've been dealt the 
best I can ... to make sure the mission stays 

Colonel Rossi testified that, during General WC1 's tenure as wing commander, the 
competitive sourcing business was very slow and she had lots of time to devote to her IG duties. 
Further, she said since the A-76 study had not yet started there could be no conflict on potential 
A-76 study-related of issues (i.e. the issues that often arise when an A-76 study formally 
compares the merits of a base function staying governmental or being outsourced). 

General WC 1 testified that no one had ever advised him that dual-hatting Colonel 
Rossi might violate AFI 90-301. He said that when this investigation started, he pulled 
out the AFI and read it for the first time. Ms. PD, who had worked in the IG office as a 
secretary and an investigative assistance since 1993, testified that she recalled that 
General WC 1 was told by either Master Sergeant DD or Colonel Rossi that the AFI does 
not allow the IG to hold other positions. 

With regard to Ms. PD's testimony referenced above, the noted that Sergeant DD had 
not yet been assigned to the Sheppard IG office- he did not come on board until early 2007 
(after General WC1 had departed). According to the 10, Ms. memory was apparently 
mistaken about Sergeant DD being assigned to the IG office at that time. In fact, Senior Master 
Sergeant OK was the IG superintendent during General WC1 's tenure. During his interview, 
Sergeant OK was specifically asked whether or not he knew if anyone had spoken to General 
WC1 about the verbiage in AFI 90-301 -he answered, '"I do not." Thus, neither Sergeant 
nor Ms. PD spoke directly to General WC 1 about the dual-hatting issue; they only thought that 
someone else might have. 

During her interview, Colonel Rossi was asked about her interpretation of the language in 
the 2005 edition of AFI 90-301. She as follows: 
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assignments. All of our military people would receive assignments out of 
Sheppard. The civilians were the ones \vho \Vere concerned about their jobs. i1 .. nd 
the only one who could answer their concerns about jobs was the civilian 
personnel office. 

General WC 1 testified as follows regarding his view of 
installation IG: 

independence of the 

IO: The final question, what else do I need to know? What aren't we smart 
enough to ask? 

W: No, I think you, I think you hit most of the, most of the right questions .. .I 
mean the answer to the question, did I have an IG that had other duties, yes I did. 
I mean I did. Had I, had I read the, the that says that they have to be singly 
focused and, and not ... no, I didn't do that. I had not read that and, and, and did 
not realize I was violating an AFI by doing that. What I did try to do is ensure 
that the wing had a senior oversight of, of the IG office at the time and I didn't 
perceive any, any conflict of interest at all. 

IO: Based on where her other duty was at the time, do you then that she and 
her office had the independent authority that you needed to advise you as the 
Wing Commander? 

W: Absolutely. 

Based on documentation testimony, the summarized situation/actions 
WCl 's tenure as 82 TRW/CC as follows: 
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• While Colonel Rossi did not assign herself to the IG position, her wing commander 
asked and she advised him that she could hold both positions while still as 
an independent IG; 

• Because of the AF' s regimentation of colonel assignments, limited personnel 
resources overall, the lack of many officers in the wing and the base's requirement to 
support AF war deployment taskings, GC 1 could not hire a "spare" colonel from 
within his -he did not have any colonels that did not already have full time 
jobs; 

• General WC 1 made a conscious decision to move/use/assign a colonel with some IG 
experience rather than let the position go vacant or hire an officer below the rank of 
colonel with no IG background; he had these three options available, he chose to hire 
Colonel Rossi; and 

• With little activity on Sheppard's competitive sourcing during General WC1 's tenure, 
Colonel Rossi's duties while "dual-hatted" were primarily focused on her IG job. 

According to the IO, at issue was not simply whether Colonel 'wore two hats,' but 
whether Colonel Rossi's dual-hatting as CCO and installation IG under General WC1 prevented 
Sheppard AFB from having an independent installation IG, as required by the 2005 edition of 
AFI 90-301. In assessing this, the 10 reviewed and analyzed the requirements of the instruction 
with respect to the specific facts and circumstances of Mrs. Armel's allegation. 

AFPD 90-3, the policy directive driving AFI 90-301, requires an "Independent 
Installation IG," but does not elaborate on whether this strictly prohibits the IG from serving in 
more than one position or from holding additional duties. According to the IO, the 2005 edition 
of AFI 90-301, ~1.20.1 (describing "Installation IG Program Background"), suggests that the 
"Independent Installation should be based on a "concept of separate full-time installation 

" It states that this concept " ... was implemented to remove any perceived conflict of 
lack of or apprehension by Force personnel as a result of a previous 
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90-301, stating that the overall intent was to emphasize the "need for an independent installation 
IG to be able to avoid any real or perceived conflict of interest." They pointed out that the 2005 
edition highlights "how making the IG someone in the chain of command did not allow that 
individual to be independent." 

The IO found that the preponderance of the evidence does not support the allegation that 
General WCl 's actions of appointing Colonel Rossi as interim IG, while was under-utilized 
as the CCO during the A-76 ramp-up, diminished the independence of his IG in violation of the 
2005 AFI 90-301. Colonel Rossi's OPR for January 29, 2005 through January 28, 2006 
describes what seems to be substantial duties and accomplishments related to the A-76 study. 
However, she testified repeatedly that actual work in this area amounted to no more than 
overseeing data-gathering and that she was not fully employed. As CCO, Colonel Rossi was 
only in the chain of command for the five civilians doing the initial A-76 data gathering. One of 
those five was her civilian deputy, whom she credits for leading the effort. The 10 determined 
that, in spite of Colonel Rossi being assigned to the CCO position, the level of effort at this time 
was more on par with additional duties than a separate full-time job. 

While 90-301 indicates that additional duties are "normally not acceptable if they 
diminish effectiveness of the installation IG," the facts do not suggest that the A-76 work had 
a measurable impact on Colonel Rossi's effectiveness as the IG. At the time, the study was not 
treated as a public event; media attention and townhall gatherings did not begin until after public 
announcement of the study in October 2006. The lack of attention on A-76 efforts made it 
unlikely members of the base perceived a conflict of interest. When interviewed, IG staff 
members from that time, Ms. PD and Sergeant GK, expressed a valid concern about whether the 
"dual hatting" complied with 90-301, noting that the installation IG office could become 
conflicted out of reviewing a complaint raised by a member of the A-76 team. However, THJ>lTn~n· 
recount facts that otherwise suggest an actual diminished effectiveness of Colonel Rossi's ability 
to serve as installation addition, both Colonel Rossi and General WC 1 testified that they 
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While Colonel Rossi was "dual-hatted" during a portion of General WC 1 's tenure as 
\Ving commander, the evidence suggests that the nature of her positions allo\ved her to act 
independently as the installation IG. Hence, the preponderance evidence, based upon the 
findings of fact and sworn testimony, do not support the allegation that General WC 1 wrongfully 
assigned the CCO, Colonel Rossi, as the 82 TRW/IG in violation of AFI 90-301, Inspector 
General Complaints Resolution, February 8, 2005. Likewise, the evidence does not support a 
finding that Colonel Rossi violated the 2005 edition when she held both the 82 CCO and IG 
positions during the time period when General WC1 was the wing commander at Sheppard AFB. 

General Devereaux and Colonel Rossi (August 2006-July 2008) 

As discussed below, the IO found, based upon the documentation and testimonial 
evidence, that General Devereaux's actions in assigning Colonel Rossi, the 82 TRW/CCO, as the 
82 TRW/IG and DS, resulted in violations of both the 2005 and 2008 editions of AFI 90-301, 
Inspector General Complaints Resolution. Likewise, the evidence supports a finding that 
Colonel Rossi was also in violation of both editions of AFI 90-301 when she held the CCO, 
and DS positions during the time period when General Devereaux was the 82 TRW/CC. 

General Devereaux assumed command of the 82 TRW on August 25, 2006. At this time 
Colonel Rossi was serving as both the IG and CCO. The competitive sourcing's A-76 study had 
not yet begun and the wing was scheduled to have its periodic Operational Readiness Inspection 
(ORI) within 60 days of the general's arrival. In the testimony and documentation he provided, 
General Devereaux indicated that his main concern at that time was preparing for the ORI. He 
also testified that the fact that Colonel Rossi's dual-hatting might be a problem was never 
brought to his attention. He knew of several other bases where the IG was dual-hatted and he 
believed using Colonel Rossi to cover the positions was the best option for the wing's mission at 
the time. also stated several times during his interview that he did not learn about the 
statements in the AFI 90-301 regarding the assignment of other duties to installation IGs (i.e. that 
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\V: ... I remember shortly after I arrived at Sheppard [A.FB] and probably even 
before I arrived, searching for the, the DS position, because every wing I'd been 
affiliated with ... before had had a Director of Staff. In fact, my last time as a 
Wing Commander at RAF Mildenhall over in the UK [United Kingdom], I had an 
0-6 Director of Staff, a funded billet on the books ... and found that position very 
valuable to just coordinate the activities of the wing staff and so as I looked at 
Sheppard [AFB], a larger wing, responsible for an installation and as a host 
supporting a flying operation with the 80th [Flying Training Wing (FTW)] and 
then in some sense we were, although the 80th Flying Training Wing co-located 
at Sheppard [AFB] had a wing staff, it was a very, a very thin staff. .. We provided 
much of the functions like Public Affairs and ... so forth for both wings. So I, I 
felt, I felt that that would, and I discussed with Col[ onel] [LC], my Vice and I 
said, I've noticed that you're, you're kind of at times playing Director of Staff as 
well as being Vice Wing Commander and we discussed that and I asked Col[ onel] 
Rossi to come in and discuss it with me and, and I just sort of threw out the idea 
and this was within the first thirty days of, what do you think about you taking on 
another job as Director of Staff and I said, my vision for this Director of Staff that 
you would perform simply a coordinating function, provide an alternative 
communication conduit for the wing staff agencies. I said I kind of need 
somebody to look after the administrivia of the wing staff like making sure the 
OPRs [Officer Performance Reports] and [Enlisted Performance Reports] 
for the staff get turned in on time ... The T scores are up to date when it's Air 
Force assistance fund time that, you know ... we have a POC [point of contact] for 
the wing staff ... not just for the groups ... But I said these are still my people, you 
know, my concept of the Director of Staff is you are not their quote, "Group 
Commander" ... They work me functionally and their access will always be 
direct to the Wing Commander, but I just, I need some help in terms of 
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The 82 TRW passed their October 2006 ORI with an "excellent" rating and the 
A •. ETC inspectors said nothing about IG being dual-hatted. 7 1\.t this time, the i\ .. = 76. 
study had not yet started and the duties of the CCO position were considered by Colonel 
Rossi and the wing commanders as less than a full time job. However, on the day of the 
final ORI outbrief, the wing announced the commencement of the long awaited A-76 
study that would analyze three separate support areas on the base to determine if they 
should remain governmental or switch to a contractor. At this point in time, Colonel 
Rossi's CCO job took on a much more intense role- she would now be in charge of the 
wing office tasked with comparing government work with outsourced work. The CCO 
job had just become a true full-time position. 

Like General WCI before him, General Devereaux had been told by AETC/Al and 
AFPC that he was unlikely to get a new colonel to fill his IG billet.8 So in October 2006, 
General Devereaux sent a request to Headquarters (HQ) AETC/IG and SAF/IG, in turn, for "a 
waiver to fill our vacant IG position with a lieutenant colonel as soon as possible," explaining 
that Colonel Rossi was "originally assigned as the Director of Competitive Sourcing ... but dual 
hatted as interim installation IG in Jan 06," and that, "in Sep 06, we started a large A-76 process 
that requires a full-time Director of Competitive Sourcing, leaving Col[ onel] Rossi unable to 
fulfill duties." 

According to Colonel Rossi's electronic staff summary sheet for the waiver request, 
dated October 11, 2006, Colonel Rossi had previously coordinated the request with AETC/IGQ, 
and local commanders of the 882d Training Group (TRG) and 82d Medical Group (MDG) had 
already "identified potential LTC [lieutenant colonel or 0-5] candidates for the IG position & are 
discussing the job with candidates now." 90-301 did not allow appointing a lieutenant 
colonel to the IG position unless SAF/IGQ approved the waiver. In the meantime, General 
Devereaux continued to seek a candidate to the vacant IG position through his HQ 

Within a week of signing out the waiver request, General 
1 at an 
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In November 2006, General Devereaux formally announced he was creating the DS 
position and that Colonel Rossi would fill it- this made her triple-hatted as the installation IG, 
the CCO with a newly on-going A-76 study, and the DS with administrative oversight of 
numerous wing offices. General Devereaux explained: 

... I sent out an e-mail to all the wing staff agencies, Chiefs, and Group 
Commanders and so forth and just said hey, I'm announcing, going to announce 
at staff meeting ... that we're going to have a Director of Staff. And as you can 
see there, I, to me, what I would characterize this is a fairly minimalist role for a 
Director of Staff. I use words like, I don't intend for this position to be a 
bureaucratic layer for the wing staff. .. The funct- they're going to work directly 
for me or the CV. Oversight on administrative matters, improve coordination and 
communication and then I go into some kind of examples of functions that she' 11 
be performing ... But again, a facilitative role, not an ownership kind of level of 
responsibility is how I characterized that. 

This newly-created DS position was also a full-time job as it was designed to touch all 
facets of the wing. The November 6, 2006 e-mail referenced by General Devereaux in the 
above-quoted testimony stated that: 

"Some of the functions Col[ onel] Rossi will perform include: 
• Group/CC equivalent for the Wing Staff for Protocol and representation purposes 
• Provide oversight of wing staff administrative responsibilities (PT [physical training] 

testing, OPR/EPR timeliness, etc.) 
• Augment the information flow to and from the Wing Staff from the command section 

and supporting groups 
• Provide 0-6 top cover for wing staff agencies chiefs as necessary for specific issues 
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at the end of December. Interestingly, the 82 TRW/IG was named AETC/IG of the year for 
2006 in February 2007. 10 

With the position downgraded to 0-5, General Devereaux reinvigorated his search for a 
new IG. March 2007 e-mail traffic documents a second effort since the start of the year to pull 
data on all eligible 0-5s. The data was reviewed by subordinate commanders and sent to 
General Devereaux for his review and selection. With regard to his efforts to get a new IG 
assigned to Sheppard AFB, General Devereaux testified: 

... And during this time, and really, contin- for my whole two years of command, 
all of my discussions with Col[ onel] Rossi and the A-1 community were, okay 
you can have the requisition out there and we did for the whole time, but they said 
frankly we just don't fill IG positions, we don't do that. That's a wing 
responsibility to do out, out of hide. And I said well what about wings that can't 
do that really. Well I'm sorry, they're our lowest priority, literally they're our 
lowest priority ... to fill action and we just don't have the, the resources and there's 
a lack of a functional advocate for filling your IG position. 

General Devereaux was finally able to find Major WY, a civil engineer from one of the 
training squadrons who had been selected for promotion to lieutenant colonel, and officially 
appointed him as the installation IG in May 2007. Before she left her role as the IG, Colonel 
Rossi reported to her boss that the rate of complaints had risen 50o/o. To General Devereaux, this 
indicated Colonel Rossi's tenure as the IG, even though being triple-hatted, had in fact worked 
well. 

Just two months later, in July 2007, the 82 TRW was tasked to provide members for two­
short notice 179-day deployments and one called for a civil engineer. All the wing commanders 
in AETC had previously been told by the commander (AETC/CC), General WL, that 

10 Each year the AF/IG awards to the best IG office in the AF. the AF each 
MAJCOM nominates its best IG office. It is that the IG office won the AETC award for 
2006, and 2008, including timeframes when Colonel Rossi was multi-hatted. 
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The 82nd Training Wing Inspector General (IG) and staff are performing at an 
excellent level. Their hard \Vork and rigorous attention to detail are evident 
throughout their programs. Our recent staff assistance visit did identify, however, 
one major area of concern. The governing directive for installation Inspectors 
General, AFI 90-301, Inspector General Complaints Resolution, stipulates IGs 
must avoid the perception of conflicts of interest. Section IE of AFI 90-301 
states, in part: "[t]he concept of separate full-time installation IGs was 
implemented to remove any perceived conflict of interest, lack of independence, 
or apprehension by Air Force personnel as a result of a previous practice of 
assigning vice commanders and IG roles to the same officials." With the 
deployment of Major [WY] and the interim measure of appointing Col[ onel] 
Rossi (who is dual-hatted as the Director of Staff), the 82 TRW is not in 
compliance with the governing directive. Since, in her role as Director of Staff, 
Col[ onel] Rossi is a direct report to the wing commander, the situation at the 82d 
is exactly analogous to having the vice commander as the IG. 
(2) Recommendations: If a suitable replacement for the incumbent IG cannot be 
found, HQ AETC/IGQ recommends seeking a waiver from SAF/IGQ to operate 
in this manner. The HQ AETC/IGQ staff can facilitate the waiver request. 

General Devereaux testified he had never seen the SAV report and did not remember the 
SA V even occurring. When shown a copy of the SA V report, General Devereaux restated he had 
never seen or heard of the document. This is consistent with his testimony throughout his 
interview that nobody mentioned any potential regulation violation until the 2008 edition of AFI 
90-301 was published. 

Testimony from several witnesses indicated they believed then-Colonel CE called 
General Devereaux about the SAV report. Mr. TG (then Major TG), AETC/IG, conducted the 
SA V and testified: 

a 
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10: \Vhat did he brief you? 

W: That he had spoken very clearly with Gen[ eral] Devereaux and that he said I 
hold then Maj[or] [TG] in high regards and I appreciate his input, but we will 
continue to operate this way through necessity. 

IO: Okay, and what did Col[onel] [CE] deem to do about it at that point? 

W: He said make sure that we process their waiver request when it comes 
through. 

IO: Okay, so he got the impression there was going to be a waiver request? 

W: Yes sir. 

IO: Did you all ever see a waiver request? 

W: No sir. 

Mr. TG further testified that he explained to Colonel Rossi that her multi-hatting violated 
the instruction: 

W: I very clearly spoke eyeball to eyeball with Col[onel] Rossi and I told her in 
no uncertain terms, ma'am, you're operating in violation of the regs, you should 
not do this. Have you told your boss that you're doing this? She said yes, I have 
advised him [General Devereaux] of the situation. He knows full well what, what 
we're doing and it's his decision to operate this way. Okay ma'am, you know, 
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\V: I remember, I, I vaguely remember we ·w-ere sitting in a board and we had, 
and I said hey your SA V is coming back up to you and there's some things that 
we need for you to address to make sure everything is copasetic and, and he 
acknowledged that and said that as soon as I get I'll, I'll either act upon it, I'm 
pretty sure that's how the conversation went, then again, that was two years 
ago ... But, but I know Gen[eral] Devereaux too. he, when he says he's going 
to act, he acts. So and that's about all I remember of that conversation. 

IO: Okay, you don't, this is, so this was then like a selection board of some type 
or an MLR [Management Level Review] or something like that? 

W: It was either in the Commander's conference or an MLR or it was done right 
there at Randolph [AFB] and that's, that's about all I can remember. 

IO: Do you recollect any prior, or not prior, but any subsequent conversations 
with him after he might have gotten the document itself? 

W: No, no. 

* 
* 

W: So if he was made aware of those SA V s and things like that, he would have 
acted upon them without any doubt in my mind. 

In December 2007, with the A-76 study on-going, Sheppard AFB was questioned by the 
Federal Times on wisdom of having the double-hatted as the CCO. a December 17, 
2007 email to General Devereaux, Colonel BL quoted the inquiry from the Federal Times, "[m]y 
editor wanted to know whether it was a conflict of interest for the IG to be in charge of the A 76 

to 
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additional colonel to serve as your IG. Unfortunately, given the current colonel inventory there 
is a shortage that \;vould limit our ability to fill that position." 

General Devereaux emailed Colonel BL in reply stating that the Sheppard billet had 
been downgraded to an 0-5 billet and that he had been told AFPC that "'they will not fill it." 

further indicated that there were no excess field grade officers at Sheppard AFB and that 
had other open 0-4/0-5 billets due to deployments. further stated that, don't know a base 
anywhere where IGs do nothing but IG duty. As a result there will always be some inherent 
conflict of interest. Remember the old days when Vice Wing Commanders were dual-hatted as 
wing General Devereaux went on to state that the way they had been working it was for 
Colonel Rossi to recuse herself from any IG matters that might present a conflict of interest and 
that he thought this was working okay. General Devereaux copied his IG (Colonel Rossi) and 
his SJA on the e-mail. According to an email dated December 18, 2007 to Colonel Rossi, 
General Devereaux indicated that he had spoken with Colonel BL the day before and that 
"[w]e're OK. Just be sure to recuse .. , yourself on any complaints that may be perceived as 
related to your of Competitive Sourcing position." No one from AETC/IG was copied 
on any of this e-mail traffic. 

During General Devereaux's tenure as 82 TRW/CC, Mrs. Armel, while working in the 
SARC office, had a complaint against Colonel Rossi as the DS. In the fall and winter of2007-
08, Colonel Rossi as the DS became involved in the SARC office. In October 2007, Colonel 
Rossi signed Mrs. Armel's career brief for SARC duties. In the December 2007- January 2008 
timeframe, Colonel Rossi removed SARC credit from Mrs. Armel's career brief and called Mrs. 
Armel into her office to discuss this with her. During this time, Mrs. Armel had FW A concerns 
regarding her supervisor, Ms. SARC. Mrs. Armel testified that she did not feel she could go 
through command chain because Colonel Rossi, while not directly in chain of command, 
was taking actions involving Mrs. Armel's office. Mrs. Armel also did not feel she could go 
through the IG system since Colonel Rossi was the installation IG. 1 1 In April 2008, Colonel 

was out of to a e>D.r•.-o·t.,. ... -.,., 

the civil servant is the <~anrrJP.\/Pfl 
or the EO office 

(for reprisal in connection with an EEO complaint)." 

26 



the AFI contained more direct language about the independent nature of an installation IG and 
even used a Director of Staff position as an example of additional duties that "must not be" 
assigned to an IG. ~1.24.3. 

By email dated May 28, 2008, Sergeant DD pointed out the new language to General 
Devereaux. The general stated this was the first time anyone had mentioned verbiage from AFI 
90-301 to him. General Devereaux responded to the update AFI immediately. By email dated 
May 29, 2008 to Colonel Rossi and the 82 TRWICV, he stated, "As much as I hate to admit this, 
we may need to react to this AFI change." 

General Devereaux had discussions with the 80 FTW ICC and directed Colonel Rossi and 
subordinate commanders to nominate candidates for the IG position. The 80 FTWICC identified 
a potential pilot to be "detailed" into the IG position but claimed the officer had to remain on the 
80 FTW manpower documents pursuant to the Euro-NA TO Joint Jet Pilot Training Program 
(ENJJPT) rules. In early June 2008, Ms. IW of AETCIIGQ provided the following guidance: 
"Per our conversation last week, it would not be appropriate to 'detail' an officer from the 80th 
[FTW] to work as the 82d TRW Inspector General, especially if he too will be dual-hatted and is 
not reassigned (Permanent change of assignment or PCA) to the 82 TRW, and continues to fly. 
However, if he were to PCA to the 82d [Training Wing] and continued flying that probably 
would be okay (if 82d [Training Wing] leadership okay' d that- some of our wing IGs are rated 
officers and do in fact fly)." According to the 80 FTWICC, if the identified pilot was to continue 
flying under the ENJJPT program, a PCA move would not work. Colonel Rossi identified a 
PCA option that might work where a senior lieutenant colonel who is prepared to "come out of 
the cockpit" and wanted to stay in the area could be transferred to the 82 TRW IIG position. The 
80 FTW ICC considered potential candidates for such an option but nothing came of it. 

General Devereaux, aware that the position required an but that it was possible to 
approval to appoint an of a lower rank, testified that he had also 
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have any people in there that you could put into the IG job. So we were looking 
all around; but you have to understand too, with PBD 720 and balanceable cuts, 
we took enormous cuts in our, our manpower here. Our officers were, you know, 
really drained. We just did not have a lot of manpower to turn back to. I was 
ecstatic when we found Col [Lieutenant Colonel] [WY] to come in here as the 
IG. I thought wow, this is great. And then next thing you know, he deploys. And 
see, that's the problem with now too. If we could find someone in here to come 
in, then the next thing we know, we're deploying that officer ..... But yes, we 
were aware and we made efforts, we made a lot of efforts. I don't think I have my 
e-mail trail on that of how many times I went back to AETC and knocked at the 
door saying, where is our IG, can you non-vol somebody in here. 

Based on documentation and testimony, the IO summarized the situation/actions during 
General Devereaux's tenure as 82 TRW/CC as follows: 

• For all but three months of General Devereaux's tenure, Colonel Rossi was assigned 
multiple duties to include being the installation IG, the CCO and the DS; 

• During the same timeframe, many attempts were made by General Devereaux and 
Colonel Rossi to hire a permanent IG, both at the 0-6 and the 0-5 levels; both AETC 
and AFPC were unable to help in assigning someone from off the base and except for 
Major WY' s short tenure, efforts to hire from on-base were extremely difficult due to 
wing demographics and the criticality of command positions; 

• On one occasion, a colonel-select was identified to transfer to Sheppard AFB to be 
the IG; however, the IG position was slated to be downgraded to a lieutenant colonel 
and the colonel-select could not be placed in the downgraded IG position; 

• When a new lieutenant colonel-select (Major WY) was finally available and selected 
from within the wing to be the permanent IG, he was deployed after two months for 
179 days to the AOR; upon his return from his deployment, he was transferred to 
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• Colonel Rossi was aware that her holding the IG plus other positions was viewed by 
some as problematic; 

• While she did not assign herself to the multiple positions, Colonel Rossi, while acting 
as the IG, advised General that she could hold the multiple positions while 
still serving as an independent 

According to the IO, the issue here is not simply how many hats Colonel Rossi wore, but 
whether Colonel Rossi's multi-hatting as CCO, DS, and IG under General Devereaux, prevented 
Sheppard AFB from having an independent installation IG, as required by the 2005 and 2008 
editions of AFI 90-301. 

As discussed earlier with regard to General WCI, the 2005 edition of AFI 90-301 
conceived of a "separate full-time installation IG" without expressly mandating it. While the 
AFI did not expressly prohibit "additional duties," it held that such duties are "normally not 
acceptable" if they "diminish the effectiveness of installation IGs in the performance of their 
complaints management and FW A responsibilities", and "IGs and IG staff members should not 
be ... assigned any duties that subsequently disqualify them from conducting an unbiased analysis 
of complaints ... " ~~1.20.1, 1.21.1, 1.21.2 and 1.21.2.1. The "Independent Installation IG" 
" ... was implemented to remove any perceived conflict of interest, lack of independence, or 
apprehension by Air Force personnel as a result of a previous practice of assigning vice 
commanders and IG roles to the same official." The 2008 edition of the AFI explicitly stated 
that the IG position cannot be combined with another position and that the cannot be assigned 
additional duties ("such as Director of Staff') that subsequently disqualify the IG from 
conducting unbiased complaint analysis. 

Colonel and Mr. MW, of SAF/IGQ, the office of primary responsibility to interpret 
AFI 90-301, opined that assigning a person duties as the installation IG, and CCO would 
violate both the 2005 and 2008 editions of AFI 90-301. They emphasized the "11eed for an 
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course of action felt would best accomplish the mission based on the resources he had 

lP'li'Pr~:: .. ;nctv acted and relied 
upon even while fulfilling all 
three positions. General understood that Rossi was handling potential 
conflicts by recusing those cases and referring those complainants to HQ AETC/IG. 
In spite of the circumstances General Devereaux, Colonel responsibilities as CCO 
and DS ultimately diminished the IG's independence to such an extent and in such a manner as 
to violate first the requirements of the 2005 edition of AFI 90-301 and then the requirements of 
the 2008 edition of 90-301. 

The investigation revealed that during General Devereaux's tenure, the wing was on 
notice that multi-hatting Colonel Rossi as the IG and DS was not in compliance with the 
governing directives. The HQ AETC/IG SA V Report in October 2007 is compelling evidence 
that Colonel Rossi's multi-hatting compromised the independence of the IG in violation of 
2005 edition of AFI 90-301. The report documents the findings of a functional HQ AETC/IG 
expert who contemporaneously examined the facts underlying this allegation. Its language is 
clear: the multi-hatting violated the AFI's requirement for an independent IG. The report's 
recommendation is just as clear: to continue operating outside the authority of the AFI, the base 
should request a waiver from AFI's OPR, SAF/IGQ. From that point forward, the 82 TRW 
continued to operate with a multi-hatted IG for eight of the remaining ten months of General 
Devereaux's command. 

Despite General Devereaux's testimony that he did not remember SA V even taking 
place, the evidence indicates that General Devereaux was aware of the SA V at time, having 
been told by then-Colonel CE that "your SA V is coming back up to you and there's [sic] some 
things that we for you to address to make sure everything is copasetic." According to 
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evidence indicated that General Devereaux did not see the report and was not briefed on its key 
points. 

Whether General Devereaux saw the actual SA V report or not, he was on notice that a 
report was on its way which identified things he needed to address. The SA V report was in fact 
received by General Devereaux's IG the report was addressed specifically to 82 

Even if the report was received by General Devereaux's support staff and 
inadvertently not presented to him, General Devereaux bears ultimate responsibility for the 
operations of his support staff. His IG, Colonel Rossi, testified that she saw the report. 
Therefore, she had actual knowledge. Colonel Rossi should have understood that this was a 
matter of command importance. Moreover, it was incumbent on Colonel Rossi to brief General 
Devereaux on the findings and recommendations of the SA V report. The evidence supports a 
finding that General Devereaux was on notice and at the very least his staff had actual 
knowledge of the report's findings; that knowledge is imputed to General Devereaux as the wing 
commander who is ultimately responsible for ensuring the independence of the IG function. 

In addition to the SA V report, AETC/ A 1 communicated with General 
Devereaux via email in December 2007 indicating that the attorneys in AETC felt that there was 
a conflict of interest where Colonel Rossi held dual positions as both the IG and CCO because it 
"could dissuade wing personnel from discussing/reporting an issue regarding the conduct of the 
study, since she is also responsible for managing the study." Colonel BL of AETC/ Al told 
General Devereaux that his solution of Colonel Rossi recusing herself on complaints related to 
the A-76 study was "a reasonable solution .. .it's simple and if it works, it works for me." 
However, the MAJCOM Al does not have waiver authority for an IG regulatory requirement 
within the 90 series AFis. AETC/IG was not copied on the e-mails and nothing in the record 
suggests that AETC/IG weighed in on the views contained in the emails. inconsistent 
December 2007 message from AETC/Al does not undo the findings of AETC/IG in their 
October 2007 SAV. Moreover, while AETC/Al and General Devereaux believed that potential 
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Although General Devereaux conceived of the 
0'1.TO"Y\ 

..... ,, ..... ~ ........ u., '-' v vll functions 
role as one of communication and 

potential conflicts 
....... ~ .... '".._,.., .. for an independent IG. Acting as a "Group/CC equivalent for Wing Staff for 

and representation purposes" creates a perception of Colonel Rossi serving in a 
................. u,.._, ............. Group/CC role. Providing "0-6 top cover for staff agencies chiefs as necessary 
for specific issues," and ensuring the wing staff "'is appropriately organized and resourced to 
perform required functions" furthers that perception. These functions seem more in line 
command and management than "protocol and representation." Providing oversight of"PT 
testing, OPR/EPR timeliness, etc" creates a with the IG reviewing any complaint related 
to an abuse of authority with respect to one of the programs under DS oversight. Vesting such· 
authority Colonel Rossi could have made members of the wing staff apprehensive about going 
to Colonel Rossi as an independent IG. 

The SA V report compared the combination of Colonel Rossi's DS and IG roles to the 
prohibited past practice of combining the CV and IG positions. Colonel Rossi's January 28, 
2007 and January 28, 2008 multi-hatted progressively support this. While the January 28, 
2007 OPR focuses on her duties, it raises other accomplishments with potential for conflict 
with her IG role: leading the "new AF sexual assault prgm [program]"; consolidating "WSAs 
[Wing Staff Agencies] additional duties~ combined History & Security"; and "got agency chiefs 
on-board, held staff agencies accountable." Her second OPR recounts guiding "admin/resources 
for WSA: JA [Judge Advocate], Chapel, XP [Plans and Programs], Safety, PA [Public Affairs], 
EO [Equal Opportunity], CP [Command Post], EET [Exercise Evaluation Team] and training ops 
[operations]", which could have conflicted her out of any FW A complaints related to use of 
resources within those agencies. She "led wg [wing] AFS021 [Air Force Smart Operations for 
the 21st Century] prgm [program]", and was credited for " ... wing's PA shop "most effective" in 
AETC ... " An who is also the "Lead exec on staff!" who "Synergized 2 wgs/6 gps 
[groups]/27 sqs [squadrons]/13 staff agencies ... " could easily appear to be an integral part of 

of command, increasing the risk that she would not be perceived as an independent 
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"'A .. ccording to the he vvrote the a 
recommendation that would a way out." of the October 2007 SAV, 

was effectively on notice that multi-hatting the 82 violated the AFI 90-301 
requirements for an independent IG. The SAY report recommended that "if a suitable 
replacement for the IG cannot be found, the wing should seek "a waiver from 
SAF/IGQ to operate in manner." wing continued to in violation of the 
requirement without seeking a waiver from the office with authority to grant an 
exception. The extended timeframe where Colonel Rossi as IG while holding the CCO 
and positions afforded time to prepare, coordinate, and submit a waiver request. If indeed it 
was impossible to fill the IG position with a locally assigned officer, it would have been 
appropriate to include this information as supporting documentation to the waiver request. 
82 TRW ICC was in the best position to analyze and consolidate the facts supporting such a 
waiver request. Elevating the issue, as recommended by AETC/IG in the SA V report would 
have brought due attention to this issue which had AF and possibly even DoD-level importance. 
In addition, it would have appropriately in hands of the office with ultimate authority, 
SAF/IG, the decision of whether or not the TRW/IG's independence was intolerably 
compromised or manageable with work-arounds and protections; a thorough waiver request 
would have placed the decision in the right hands with all necessary facts to decide the questions 
of whether or not to waive the AFI requirements or take action at the HQ AF level to address the 
problem. Even though the AFI violation was driven by mission requirements and manning 
shortages, General Devereaux and his staff did not request or obtain a waiver to authorize 
operating in such a way. 

Despite General Devereaux's best intentions and multiple extenuating circumstances 
throughout his tenure as wing commander, his actions of triple-hatting Colonel Rossi in three 
key full-time positions ultimately resulted in the installation IG not being able to act 
independently. Keeping as the IG when the study began and soon-after placing 
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holding down three jobs, one of which they feel the need to complain about. Also, the argument 
that a complainant can ahvays go to might water when about a relatively 
senior officer, but more junior officers, young enlisted troops and young civilians are in a 
different position- going to the command headquarters with their personal problems can be a 
difficult ordeal. Colonel Rossi failed to fully appreciate that working two other positions 
simultaneous to her being the installation IG would adversely affect her ability to ensure the 
independence and effectiveness of the IG position. 

The 10 found by a preponderance of the evidence that Colonel Rossi's independence as 
the IG was in fact compromised on at least one documented occasion, resulting in Mrs. Armel 
filing her complaint with the OSC because her complaint involved Colonel Rossi. Again, it is 
impossible to determine the effect this conflict had on the perception of the independence of the 
IG. While Colonel Rossi may have thought she had a solution in place to recuse herself if there 
was a conflict or potential conflict, in at least Mrs. Armel's case that plan was flawed. As a 
result, a preponderance of the evidence shows that Colonel Rossi's performance of multiple 
positions simultaneously resulted in a lack of independence of the IG function at Sheppard AFB. 

Thus, the evidence supports a finding, based upon the documentary evidence and sworn 
testimony, that Colonel Rossi did not act to maintain the independence and integrity of the IG 
position while she held the positions ofiG, CCO and DS under the command of General 
Devereaux and mistakenly advised General Devereaux that she could simultaneously hold the 
positions of 82 TRW/IG, 82 TRW/OS and the 82 TRW/CCO, which resulted in violations of 
both the 2005 and 2008 editions of AFI 90-301. 

General Mannon and Colonel Rossi (July 2008- March 2009) 

As discussed below, based upon the documentation testimonial evidence, General 
Mannon was in violation the 2008 edition of 90-301, Inspector 
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W: However Col[ onel] Rossi and I met somewhere in the next two to three 
as, as I \vas getting all .. and laid out hey your 

I'm also your IG. New change to regulations. We have, the position has been 
downgraded. I've been in the position dual-hatted through two, two General 

.. We have asked for AETC is aware. AFPC is aware. 
[sic] letters on file. We are seeking to backfill this position. I recuse myself if 
there are competitive sourcing issues or if someone is uncomfortable with my 
position, we send it to the AETC/IG. We them to the AETC/IG. We won 
awards the last two years ... from AETC for effectiveness. We have a solution 
moving. It will be September, October before the solution is, is in place ... and do 
you have questions? I'm going, well I don't think so. Sounds like it's working 
pretty well and we will accept the risk at this point in time since the regulation 
just changed and we have a, we have a solution set in the works that was started 
by General Devereaux and we continue to move forward with that .. .I didn't have 
anybody else. There were no bodies available. Two of my deputy [g]roup 
[c]ommanders were deployed on 365s. There are no spare 0-5s or 0-6s ... sitting 
around in our Air Force. We have PBD-720 and then we were going through the 
A-76 study. 

General Mannon went on to explain the manpower situation at the base. It had been 
made very clear to all the AETC wing commanders that they were expected to support the 
war efforts in Iraq and Afghanistan - that meant deploying several hundred people at any one 
time. his testimony, he mentioned that two of his deputy group commanders were deployed --
his point being that deployments hit all ranks. At the same time, manpower cuts as a result of 
PBD 720 had already resulted in a slightly smaller wing and inhibited the ability of and 
AFPC to find/recruit a lieutenant colonel to transfer to Sheppard AFB for the IG position. 
General Mannon also indicated that the 2005 BRAC resulted in Sheppard AFB losing an entire 
training group by 20 II which will result in manpower cuts in the near future. 

we 
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IO: Okay. 

W: And I read the, I read the, the document that talked about 

IO: Yes sir. 

W: But I, I don't recall that she [Colonel Rossi] told me about that. 

Colonel Rossi also testified regarding her conversation with General Mannon: 

W: Well Gen[ eral] Mannon came in last year and when I had my first session, 
discussion with him and we went over my, my duties, he did ask me, you know, 
how am I doing with working all these jobs. And I said, you know, I've just 
learned to balance them, that my staff carries me and he said, well if there's a 
problem, you know, to let him know and also, I also informed him at that time 
that I'd be retiring this year, '09. And he said, okay, well do what you need to do 
to get ready for your retirement. .. And he was not really aware of the AFI. I 
didn't go in and quote it to him or point out that there, the, that guidance that was 
provided in the AFI. 

Colonel Rossi also briefed General Mannon that a "fix" that was initiated under 
General Devereaux to come into compliance with the AFI was moving forward. The 
inference presented by Colonel Rossi to General Mannon led him to believe that an 
appropriate solution was in place to bring the wing into compliance with the AFI within 
two to three months. Given his understanding from Colonel Rossi, General Mannon felt 
the was reasonable as a solution was in the works. 
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somebody that wants to do a job, wants to 

to 
Marty Rossi is .. And throughout the Force, I think. 
She's a very special lady as as ability to do lots of things do 
them well. doesn't, irregardless, you know, I understand that we 
had an that we needed to and we were working to fix Col[ onel] 

seemed to be the right I wanted to wait for instead of 1-J"'-"' ...... ''10-. 

somebody temporarily. 

any other questions. You 
you know, pretty well. Obviously 

spot now. What do I need to know 
I to am I not 
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• General Mannon was briefed there was a fix in place with a couple of possibilities of 
lieutenant to the job, with a projected fill in October 2008; 

• Those possibilities fell through a couple of months into tenure but he then 
identified a new I G this to be his best chance of a permanent 

to the situation- he elected to hire that individual -Lieutenant Colonel TR, who 
would be available to fill the position in March 2009; 

• Once Lieutenant Colonel was identified as the likely candidate to permanently fill 
the IG position, General Mannon chose to await her availability and keep Colonel 
Rossi in the position for a while longer rather than bring in another interim IG of 
lesser rank prior to Lieutenant Colonel TR permanently assuming the position; and 

• Lieutenant Colonel TR was appointed as the installation IG, her sole duty, in March 
2009 and she remains there as of today. 

As discussed above with General WC 1 and General Devereaux, the issue remains 
whether Colonel Rossi's multi-hatting as CCO, DS, and IG under General Mannon prevented 
Sheppard AFB from having an independent installation IG, as required by 90-301. 

General Mannon inherited the same difficult situation that led General Devereaux and 
General WC 1 to do what was ''normally not acceptable" under the 2005 edition of AFI 90-301, 
and multi-hat their IG. However, when he took command in July 2008, he was governed by the 
2008 edition of AFI 90-301, which added clear baseline requirements necessary for preserving 
the independence: "the IG position will not be combined with another position in the 
organization," and "the IG and IG staff members must not be ... assigned any duties (such as 
Director of Staff) that subsequently disqualify them from an unbiased analysis ... " 

General Mannon was informed upon taking command that multi-hatting the IG position 
violated the updated AFI. was also told that appointing a dedicated IG was possible in 
October 2008, three months away. the while Colonel Rossi continued to hold 
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third multi-hat OPR, from January 28, 2009, is again telling. 

1.4.'-'\-'V.l.a.liJ.Lh:Hll.U'-'.I..li~J grew to AAA""A'-"'-~"" 

"On-top oversight of 

handling 
and 

[Air Smart Operations for the 21st Delivery System], CAIB 
[Community Action Information Board] director, [National Personnel System] 
pay pool manager, VPP [Voluntary Protection Program] director." is credited with 
"'Improves coord/comm .... ; matrixes activities across Sheppard's ops." Her multi-hatting is 
acknowledged with " ... executes 3 vital wing tasks ... " Finally, she is described as "WSA 
'cmdr'-oversaw calls, brds, personnel actions, holiday events, fitness; hands-on mgr, works for 
mbr buy-in." Not only was she filling the three positions, her leadership in the wing staff 
positions and programs remained so visible and far-reaching, and had endured so long, that she 
would have undoubtedly been perceived as part of the command structure, increasing the risk 
that she not be seen as an independent investigator and impairing her ability to actually be an 
independent investigator. 

Although facts do not reveal a second case such as Mrs. Armel's arising under General 
Mannon's command, the circumstances that prevented Mrs. Armel from having an independent 
IG continued. In addition, it is not possible to measure whether concerns about the IG's lack of 
independence prevented others from raising complaints. 

Thus, despite some efforts to avoid conflicts, the multi-hatting of Colonel Rossi violated 
the 2008 edition of 90-301. General Mannon and his staff continued to operate this way 
knowing it was in violation of the AFI. Even though the violation was driven by mission 
requirements and manning shortages, General Mannon and his staff did not request or obtain a 
waiver to authorize operating in such a way. 
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position. 
months after 

TRW did not comply until 10 months after the AFI was updated, 8 

and unusual described above were not Unfortunately, execution of 
the permanent solution took than planned but was completed in March With the 
resolution in sight, General Mannon did not request a waiver. 

The here is to that for General Devereaux. Despite General Mannon's best 
intentions and multiple extenuating circumstances, his actions in keeping Colonel Rossi in three 
key full-time positions ultimately resulted in the installation IG not being able to act 
independently. Thus, the preponderance of evidence, based upon the findings of fact and sworn 
testimony, supports a finding that General Mannon's continued assignment of the 82 TRW/CCO 
and DS as the 82 IG resulted in a violation of the 2008 edition of AFI 90-301. 

Similarly, the evidence supports a finding, based upon the documentary evidence and 
sworn testimony, that Colonel Rossi did not act to maintain the independence and integrity of the 

position while she held the positions of CCO and DS under the command of General 
Mannon and mistakenly advised General Mannon that she could simultaneously hold the 
positions of82 TRW/IG, 82 TRW/DS and the 82 TRW/CCO, which resulted in a violation ofthe 
2008 edition of AFI 90-301. 

Gross Mismanagement and Abuse of Authority 

In addition, OSC' s Referral Letter to SECAF mentioned the possibility of "potential 
gross mismanagement" and "abuse of authority" on the part of the officials at Sheppard AFB. 
AFI 90-301 defines those two terms as: 

Gross Mismanagement-A management action or inaction that creates a 
substantial risk of significant adverse impact on the agency's ability to 

AAAAUUA'-'AAo It is more It 

on 
or 

to 
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Capricious-Determined by chance or impulse or whim rather than by necessity 
or reason. 

upon the documentary and sworn testimony adduced in the 
investigation, the allegations of and abuse of authority are not 
substantiated. In each case, the evidence indicated that neither gross mismanagement nor abuse 
of authority were applicable in Possible mismanagement is out because 
the agency (both the wing and office) was able to accomplish its basic mission. In fact, 
during the relevant time period, the wing's IG office twice won the best in command award. 
Abuse of authority is ruled out because wing commanders certainly had the authority to 
appoint their own installation IG and did so after weighing and considering their options. No 
decision was made in an arbitrary or capricious manner. Thus, the actions and decisions of the 
three Sheppard wing commanders and the installation IG fall far short of the gross 
mismanagement or abuse of authority definitions cited above. 

CORRECTIVE ACTION 

Despite the many efforts made by General Devereaux, General Mannon and Colonel 
Rossi to comply with AFI 90-301, Colonel Rossi's service as 82 TRW/IG while she was also the 
82 TRW/DS and 82 TRW/CCO resulted in violations of AF policy. While reasonable minds 
may differ, violations at issue here stemmed, in large part, from systemic issues in the AF 
(including severe personnel shortages) and the fact that the nation was (and remains) at war. In 
light of this and the many mitigating circumstances set forth above, no personnel action with 
respect to any one officer is appropriate. 

In these circumstances, the cannot hold these commanders and the installation 
responsible for violations of AF requirements which could not be appropriately met with the 
limited resources the gave to the commanders. The shortage of colonels in Air Education 

at 

AAJ.VA'-<'-'V• inter 
requirement to process requests for waivers of 90-301 requirements when necessary. 
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the I Gs of the major commands were directed to 
January 12-13, 2010 
on the proper procedures 
be published an upcoming 
the issues raised 
thereof. 

CONCLUSION 

an 
... u ..... E:, ..... ·'-.l1-L""'' TIG Brief, to publicize 

............ ..,~,_,...,appropriate resolution(s) 

Upon review of the evidence and testimony adduced during the the 
following findings are based upon a preponderance of the evidence: 1) General WC 1 did not 
violate AF policy as set forth in the 2005 edition of AFI 90-301, Inspector General Complaints 
Resolution when he appointed Colonel Rossi as IG while she held the position of DS; 2) General 
Devereaux's actions when he (a) appointed Colonel Rossi as DS while she held the IG position 
and (b) allowed her to hold the position of while she held the positions of DS and CCO 
resulted in a violation of AF policy as set forth in 2005 and 2008 editions of 90-301, 
Inspector General Complaints Resolution; 3) General Mannon's actions in allowing Colonel 
Rossi to hold the position of IG while she held the positions of DS and CCO resulted in a 
violation of AF policy as set forth in the 2008 edition of AFI 90-301, Inspector General 
Complaints Resolution; and 4) Colonel Rossi violated AF policy as set forth in 2005 and 2008 
editions of AFI 90-301, Inspector General Complaints Resolution, when she failed to act to 
maintain the independence and integrity of the IG position while she held the positions of 
installation IG, CCO, and DS under the commands of General Devereaux and General Mannon. 

OSC' s Referral Letter to SECAF mentioned the possibility of "potential gross 
mismanagement" and "abuse of authority" on the part of the officials at Sheppard AFB. Based 
upon the documentary evidence and sworn testimony adduced in the investigation, the 
allegations of gross mismanagement and abuse of authority are not substantiated. 

to 
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WITNESSES INTERVIEWED 
(Alphabetical Order) 

Ms. Stephanie M. Armel 
Ms. PD 
Brigadier General Richard Devereaux 
Colonel JD 
Master Sergeant DD 
Brigadier General CE 
Mr.TG 
Mr.GK 
Brigadier General Otis G. Mannon 
Colonel Marcia Rossi 
Major General WCl 
Ms. IW 
Mr.MW 

1. Memorandum from OSC to 
1 

6. 

EXHIBITS 

dated March 24, 2009, re: "OSC File No. 
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8. 

9. (as of U'VIJ'I.'-'L.l.UJVJ. 

Civilians Assigned to 
2005-2009). 

11. 

12. 10, 

13. 13,2009 

15. 
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23. Sworn testimony of Ms. IW, former AETC/IGQ, June 29,2009 

to Devereaux, 2, 2006, re: "Info-Part 2c" 
and email Ms. SW to General Devereaux, dated August 2, 2006, re: "Info Part 
2" (includes Colonel Rossi's biography). 

2. Email from General Devereaux to Ms. JH, 82 TRW/CCE, dated September I, 2006, 
re: "SURFS" and email from Ms. JH to General Devereaux, dated August 3I, 2006. 

3. Email from General Devereaux to Ms. SW, dated August 28, 2006, re: "Appointment 
Letters for BG Devereaux signature"; email from Ms. SW to General Devereaux, 
dated August 24, 2006~ and email from Ms. PD, 82 TRW/IG, to 82 TRW/CCEA, 
dated August II, 2006. 

4. Email from Captain AETC/A2, to General Devereaux, dated May 29, 2006, re: 
"Dual-Hatted DS and IG." 

5. Email from General Devereaux to Colonel LC, 82 TRW/CV, August 29, 2006, re: 
"2007 AETC Gameplan Movers List- Initial DRAFT- 82 TRW"; email from 
Colonel LC to General Devereaux, dated August 28, 2006; email from Captain RS to 
General WC I, dated August 28, 2006. 

6. Email from General Devereaux to Ms. SW, dated September 6, 2006, re: "Gen 
Devereaux 5 Sep Orientation.ppt"; email from Ms. SW to General Devereaux, dated 
September 5, 2006; and email from Ms. PD to Ms. SW, dated September 5, 2006. 

7. Email from General Devereaux to Captain RS, dated September I3, 2006, re: "2007 

11. to 
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Devereaux to all 82 TRW Staff Agency Chiefs, all 82 TRW 
r:!--rnnn '-'Lvup "'-"'-'· ........................ ~ .... ... dated ·November 6, 2006, 

" 

13. to Colonel Rossi, dated ..._.,..., .................. J' ... ... 

"FOUO: Col (s) [L's] -Potential from Colonel 
dated December 5, 2006; email from 

dated December 5, 2006; Colonel 
dated 4; email from to Colonel 4, 
2006, re TRW /IG Interest"; and email from Captain to Colonel Rossi, dated 
November 30, 2006. 

14. Email from General Devereaux to Colonel Rossi, dated December 7, 2006, re: "Loss 
of Col ( s) [L] for I G Position" and email from Colonel Rossi to General Devereaux, 
dated December 6, 2006. 

15. Email from General Devereaux to Colonel Rossi, dated December 20, 2006, re: 
"CSAF Approval of AF Colonel Grade Review"; email from Colonel GP, AETC/ A 1, 
to AETC Commanders and Staff Directors, dated December 20, 2006; and email from 
Lieutenant General RB, AF/A1, to Air Force AI Community, dated December 6, 
2006, re: "AF Colonels Grade Review." 

16. Email from Major JU, 82 TRW/CCE, to General Devereaux, dated February 5, 2008; 
re: "Team Awards" and email from General Devereaux to Major JU, dated February 
5, 2008. 

17. Email from General Devereaux to Lieutenant Colonel DC, 982 TRG/CD, dated 
March 2007, re: "82 Maj [V]" and email from Colonel 
to 
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21. 

Email from Captain 
2008 
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2007, re: 


